0/a 4-1-88.

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

ENVIROGENICS SYSTEMS COMPANY, a Delaware corporation,

Appellant,

٧.

CITY OF CAPE CORAL, FLORIDA, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

WATER SERVICES OF AMERICA, INC.

Petitioner,

٧.

CITY OF CAPE CORAL, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 71,096

JAN I & KIND

By Deputy Cool.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

ENVIROGENICS SYSTEMS COMPANY

AND

WATER SERVICES OF AMERICA, INC.

ENRIQUE ARROYO
ARROYO & ARROYO, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioner
Water Services of America
1550 Madruga Avenue, Suite 230
Coral Gables, FL 33146
Telephone: (305) 667-9404

STATEMENT OF CASE

The present case involves a construction bid dispute between the City of Cape Coral (Cape Coral) and two prospective bidders, Envirogenics and Water Services, on a project involving the construction and design of a reverse osmosis water treatment facility. On or about July 19, 1984, two independent actions were instituted by the prospective bidders after they had been disqualified by Cape Coral prior to having their bids considered. (R. 4; 325-339; 411-415; 579-581; 583-584; 605-607; 665-666). On March 17, 1986, the trial judge consolidated the two cases and severed the issue presently before the court for trial. (R. 704-705; 730). After a bench trial, the lower court on July 7, 1986, entered a final declaratory judgment. (R. 728-729).

On August 1, 1986, Envirogenics filed a Notice of Appeal with the trial court (R. 731-732). Shortly thereafter, Water Services also filed a Notice of Appeal with the trial court. (R. 733-734). On November 20, 1986, Water Services moved the Second District Court of Appeal to consolidate both appeals. Water Services' motion was granted and its appeal was consolidated with that of Envirogenics. After briefing and oral argument, the Second District Court of Appeal, in an opinion filed on June 24, 1987, affirmed the decision of the lower court. Thereafter, Water Services and Envirogenics filed a Motion for Rehearing and a Motion for Rehearing En Banc. These motions were denied by the Second District Court of Appeal on August 13, 1987. On or about August 24, 1987, Envirogenics and Water Services filed a notice

to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On December 21, 1987 this Court rendered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The present case involves the award of a contract by Cape Coral for the construction and design of a reverse osmosis water treatment system and the disqualification of two bidders on that project. (R. 3; 665-666)

The reverse osmosis water treatment system consists of reverse osmosis membranes, piping, filters, pumps and other water treatment equipment housed in a pre-engineered metal building. (R. 54; 92-93; 699). The sole function of the reverse osmosis water treatment facility is to produce nine million gallons per day of drinking water and as such constitutes a utility facility. (R. 52)

The total contract price for Cape Coral's reverse osmosis system amounted to approximately Four Million Three Hundred Seventy Thousand Dollars (\$4,370,000.00). (R. 54-55)

During May of 1985, Cape Coral issued invitations to bid on the reverse osmosis project. (R. 50-51) Due to the specialized nature of reverse osmosis technology, the bid documents for the project contained specialized requirements which prospective bidders were required to meet. (R. 655A-SC/3-SC/4; 107)

After engaging in extensive bid preparation, Envirogenics and Water Services submitted bids on Cape Coral's reverse osmosis project. Both Envirogenics and Water Services were pre-qualified as bidders and found to have met the specialized requirements for bidders. (R. 5; 655A; A. 4) At the time of their bid submissions, neither Envirogenics nor Water Services was licensed

as a general contractor under Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983). (R. 3)

Cape Coral disqualified both Envirogenics and Water Services as bidders based on the fact that neither was certified as a general contractor pursuant to Chapter 489. As a result of their disqualification, Envirogenics and Water Services instituted the present action against Cape Coral. Throughout the trial court proceedings, both parties contended that they were expressly exempted from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 by virtue of Section 489.103(1). In support of their position, Envirogenics and Water Services relied upon the First District Court of Appeal's decision in Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger J. Au & Sons, Inc., 354 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

Envirogenics and Water Services proved at trial that the contract for the construction and design of the reverse osmosis water treatment system was a utility contract (a fact which was never seriously disputed). (R. 52) Envirogenics and Water Services also presented evidence of the fact that a very large number of contracts (at least 20) had been bid on and awarded by governmental entities and private parties to the utility contractors, who had never been licensed under Chapter 489. (R. 70-74) In fact, at the very moment the bids of Envirogenics and Water Services were rejected, Water Services was engaged in the refurbishing of the existing water treatment plant for Cape Coral, and had, without ever having been licensed as a

contractor, previously done other work on the existing water treatment plant for Cape Coral! (R. 74)

The trial court rejected Envirogenics and Water Services' argument and held that these bidders were not exempt from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 by virtue of Section 489.103(1).

The decision of the lower court was appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal. Once again, Envirogenics and Water Services took the position that Section 489.103(1) expressly exempted contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489. As in the trial court, Envirogenics and Water Services emphasized to the appellate court that the construction urged by them had been adopted by the First District Court of Appeal in Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger J. Au & Son, Inc., supra. After hearing oral arguments and reviewing the briefs filed in connection with the case, the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that Section 489.103(1) did not exempt contractors in work on utilities because of a perceived inconsistency between Sections 489.103(1) and 489.103(5) of the Accordingly, the Second District Court of Appeal Statute. affirmed the decision of the lower court. The Second District Court of Appeal noted, however, that its interpretation of the exemption set forth in Section 489.103(1) was in conflict with the interpretation of this same section rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger J. Au & Son, Inc.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether contractors in work on utilities are exempt from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983).
- II. Whether the elimination of the exemption for contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983) is contrary to the stated purpose of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983) and not in the best interest of the public or the State of Florida and other governmental entities.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal erred in its statutory construction of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983) by deciding that the petitioning utilities contractors, Envirogenics and Water Services, were not exempt from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489, by virtue of Section 489.103(1), Florida Statutes (1983).

The simple, uncomplicated language of Section 489.103(1), expressly exempts contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489. Section 489.103(1), states:

"This act does not apply to:

(1) Contractors in work on bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads, or utilities and services incidental thereto."

In order for the construction of the Second District Court of Appeal to be correct, the words "or utilities and services incidental thereto" would have to be limited to modifying or describing "bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads". This construction is neither grammatically correct nor consistent with the punctuation used throughout Chapter 489. The punctuation and grammar utilized in Chapter 489 are uniform throughout and support the construction of Section 489.103(1) which exempts contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489.

Throughout Chapter 489, groupings of items in one class or category are found with a conjunctive ",or" followed by the last

item in the class or category. In each instance, the last item, preceded by the ",or", is included in the class or category of items listed.

The same rule should be applied to the language in Section 489.103(1), and utilities should be included in the class or category of work exempted from the licensing provisions of Chapter 489.

Additionally, if the exempted categories under Section 489.103(1) were only "bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads", the listing would be grammatically incorrect. Either an "and" or an "or" would have to precede the last element in the list of exempted categories. No such conjunctive "and" or "or" precedes the last word of the list of exempted categories under the proposed construction of the statute by the Second District Court of Appeal. However, a conjunctive ", or" does precede the last element in the list of exempted categories under the construction given by the First District Court of Appeal, which is the construction urged by petitioners herein.

The primary explanation given by the Second District Court of Appeal in deciding that Section 489.103(1) did not exempt contractors in work on utilities was that Section 489.103(5) appeared to be unnecessary if Section 489.103(1) were construed to exempt contractors in work on utilities, and that since the Legislature would not enact a meaningless provision, the section must be construed in such a way as to not grant an exemption.

. ŧ

A quick examination of the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeal contained in its decision reveals the flaw in the appellate court's reasoning.

The Second District Court of Appeal started out to determine whether contractors in work on utilities were exempt from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 and ended up with an analysis of whether utilities, as entities, were exempt from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489.

The inadvertent switch in the subject of the appellate court's analysis from the exemption of contractors in work on utilities to the exemption of utilities per se resulted in the appellate court erroneously concluding that the statute did not exempt contractors in work on utilities. Had the analysis by the appellate court been of the exemption of contractors in work on utilities, no error would have resulted.

Chapter 489 is internally consistent and requires a statutory construction of Section 489.103(1) which exempts contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489.

The elimination of the exemption for contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 is contrary to the stated purpose of Chapter 489 and is not in the best interest of the public or the State of Florida and other governmental entities which contract for utility work.

Extremely strong reliance on the exemption from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 has developed by

contractors in work on utilities, as well as by governmental and private entities requiring utilities work. If the exemption were eliminated, the result would be reduced availability of national level specialized utilities contractors, higher costs, and lack of access to the most recent technology in the utilities industry, all at a time when the state of Florida is undergoing unprecedented growth and requires a modern, cost-efficient utilities infrastructure.

The construction of Section 489.103(1), by the First District Court of Appeal in Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger Au and Son, Inc., 354 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) granting an exemption to contractors in work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489 is correct and desirable from every perspective. Said exemption has been relied on by all parties to utilities contracts for a period of at least ten years.

The Legislature has not amended the law nor enacted a law eliminating such an exemption, despite the passage of at least ten years. No reason exists for the Second District Court of Appeal to eliminate such exemption. In fact, the Second District Court of Appeal arrived at a different construction than the First District Court of Appeal only because of faulty logic.

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal should be vacated, the decision of the trial court should be reversed, and the case should be remanded to the trial court for a determination of the issue of damages.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN ITS STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION OF CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983) BY DECIDING THAT THE PETITIONING UTILITIES CONTRACTORS, ENVIROGENICS AND WATER SERVICES, WERE NOT EXEMPT FROM THE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983) BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 489.103(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983).

The Second District Court of Appeal has mistakenly decided that Section 489.103(1) does not exempt contractors who work on utilities from the licensing provisions of Chapter 489. The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal was the result of a faulty analysis of the provisions of Sections 489.103(1) and 489.103(5). The Second District Court of Appeal's decision is clearly erroneous and should be reversed.

A. SECTION 489.103(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983) EXPRESSLY EXEMPTS CONTRACTORS WHO WORK ON UTILITIES FROM THE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983).

Envirogenics and Water Services were expressly exempted from the licensing requirements set forth in Chapter 489. Section 489.103(1), expressly exempts contractors who work on utilities from the licensing requirements of Chapter 489. That section provides

"489.103 Exemptions

This act does not apply to:

(1) Contractors in work on bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads, or utilities and services incidental thereto."

The present case involved work on a public utility; namely, the construction and design of a reverse osmosis water treatment

facility. (R. 3) As such, Envirogenics and Water Services were specifically exempted from the licensing requirements imposed by Chapter 489. Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger Au & Son, Inc., supra; R. Leiby, Florida Construction Law Manual, Section 16.03 (1981).

A similar construction was afforded this statutory provision by the Attorney General in an opinion directed to the Florida Construction Industry Licensing Board. (A. 6-8) In that opinion, the Attorney General stated:

"I am in receipt of your letter of November 26 wherein you ask whether a sewage treatment plant would be exempted from the provisions of part II of Chapter 468, Florida Statutes, on the basis of the language of Section 468.114(1) which exempts:

3

Contractors in work on bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads, or utilities and services incidental thereto.

Since part II of Chapter 468, Florida Statutes, does not contain a definition of the word "utility", which I believe would be the key to any exemption of a sewage treatment plant, I call your attention to Section 717.02(8), Florida Statutes, which sets forth a statutory definition of "utility" as follows:

"Utility" means any person who owns or operates within this state, for public use, any plant, equipment, property, franchise, or license for the transmission of communications; for the production, storage, transmission, sale, delivery or furnishing of electricity, water, steam, or gas; or for the transportation of persons or property."

Implicit in the above-mentioned opinion is the conclusion that Section 468.114(1), Florida Statutes (current version at

489.103(1), Florida Statutes) expressly exempts contractors who work on utilities. While opinions of the Attorney General are not legally binding on the Court, they are persuasive and entitled to great weight in construing Florida Statutes. See Richey v. Town of Indian River Shores, 337 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

The interpretation urged by Envirogenics and Water Services and adopted by the Attorney General is further substantiated upon considering the First District Court of Appeal's decision in Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger Au and Son, Inc., supra. Like the present case, Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. involved the award of a contract for the construction of improvements to a public utility. There, the awarding authority disqualified a bidder, Roger Au and Son, Inc., based on the fact that it was not licensed as a contractor under Chapter 468, Florida Statutes, (current version at Chapter 489, Florida Statutes). The trial court found that Section 468.114(1), (current version at Section 489.103(1) specifically exempted the rejected bidder from the licensing requirements contained in that chapter and directed the awarding authority to grant the contract to the rejected bidder. On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed. Ιn reaching its decision, the appellate court stated:

"The trial court ruled that the JEA's prequalification of Au plus the express exemption of Florida Statutes

The language and punctuation contained in Section 468.114(1), Florida Statutes (1976) and Section 489.103(1), Florida Statutes (1983) are identical. (A. 9, 10).

Section 468.114, made registration requirements inapplicable. (emphasis supplied.)

The record clearly supports the holding of the able trial court that Au is the lowest responsible bidder on the project and that the JEA could not reasonably reject Au's bid. Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger Au and Son, Inc., 354 So. 2d 446, 449 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)."

Furthermore, in an important footnote to the <u>Wood-Hopkins</u> decision, the First District Court of Appeal stated,

"The bid documents require registration "in accordance with Chapter 468 of the Florida Statutes. Florida Statutes Section 468.114, however, expressly exempts "contractors in work on ... utilities and services incidental thereto" from registration. Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co. v. Roger Au and Son, Inc., 354 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)"

The <u>Wood-Hopkins</u> decision is the only appellate case in the state of Florida construing the exemptions set forth in Section 468.114(1) (current version at Section 489.103(1). As such the law in Florida is that contractors who work on utilities are expressly exempted from the registration requirements of Chapter 489. See State v. Hayes, 333 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

B. THE CAPE CORAL REVERSE OSMOSIS WATER TREATMENT FACILITY CONSTITUTES A "UTILITY" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 489.103(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983).

Chapter 489 does not contain a definition of the term "utility". The term "utility" is, however, expressly defined in other chapters of Florida Statutes. As such, to ascertain the meaning of the word "utility" as used in Section 489.103(1), resort must be had to the other statutory definitions of this term. See Ervin v. Capital Weekly Post, 97 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1957).

A review of Florida Statutes reveals the following definitions of the term "utility":

"717.02 Definitions . . .

(8) "Utility" means any person who owns or operates within this state, for public use, any plant, equipment, property, franchise, or license for the transmission of communications, for the production, storage, transmission, sale, delivery or furnishing of electricity, water, steam, or gas, or for the transportation of persons or property. Section 717.02(8), Florida Statutes (1983). (emphasis supplied);

367.021 Definitions . . .

- (3) "Utility" means a water or sewer utility and, except as provided in s. 367.022, includes every person, lessee, trustee, or receiver owning, operating, managing, or controlling a system, or proposing construction of a system, who is providing, or proposes to provide water or sewer service to the public for compensation. Section 367.021(3), Florida Statutes (1983).
- 812.14 Trespass and larceny with the relation to utility or cable television fixtures
 - (1) As used in this section, "utility" includes any person, firm, corporation, or association, whether private, municipal, or cooperative, which is engaged in the sale, generation, provision or delivery of gas, electricity, heat, water, oil, sewer service, telephone service, telegraph service, radio service, or communication service. . . Section 812.14(1), Florida Statutes (1983). (emphasis supplied);
- 180.07 Public utilities; combination of plants or systems; pledge of revenues.
 - (1) All reservoirs, sewage systems, trunk sewers, intercepting sewers, pump stations, wells, intakes, pipe lines, distribution systems, purification works, collecting systems, treatment and disposal works, airports, hospitals, jails and golf courses,

and gas plants and distribution systems, whether heretofore or hereafter constructed or operated, or considered a public utility within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provisions for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, owning, operating, constructing, equipping and maintaining such works. Section 180.07(1), Florida Statutes (1983)."

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