0/a 4-1-88.

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA



FEB 2 1938

CLERK, SHETTEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

ENVIROGENICS SYSTEMS COMPANY, a Delaware corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF CAPE CORAL, FLORIDA, a Municipal corporation,

Appellee.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 71,096

WATER SERVICES OF AMERICA, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF CAPE CORAL, FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE CITY OF CAPE CORAL

WILLIAM M. POWELL, ESQ. City Attorney CITY OF CAPE CORAL Post Office Box 150027 Cape Coral, FL 33915-0027 Telephone: (813) 574-0533

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As unlicensed contractors, Water Services and Envirogenics were required to become licensed within the State of Florida pursuant to Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983), prior to submitting a bid to the City on the project. Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983), requires that any person who submits a bid to construct or improve any building or structure must be licensed as a general contractor or qualified through a qualifying agent certified or registered under Chapter 489. Chapter 489 does provide an exemption with respect to transportation activities for construction on bridges, roads, streets, highways, and railroads, or utilities and services incidental thereto. Water Services and Envirogenics argued at trial level that they were exempt because the City's project constituted a "utility", however, the Trial Court and the Second District Court of Appeal did not agree with them and correctly found that the City was not liable to Water Services and Envirogenics for rejecting their bid on the grounds that they were not licensed pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983), because the City of Cape Coral's construction project is not exempt from the requirements of Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, virtue οf Section bу 489.103(1). Accordingly, the Second District Court of Appeal affirming the Trial Court's determination that the project did not come under the exemption so argued by Water Services and Envirogenics should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE CITY'S CONSTRUCTION PROJECT DOES NOT FALL WITHIN THE EXEMPTION REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 489 BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 489.103(1).

Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics would like this Court to ignore the evidence presented in this case and only ask whether "Utilities" are a category exempt from the licensing requirements under Florida Statutes, Section 489.103(1). However, it is well settled that the findings of a Trial Judge sitting without a jury are clothed with a presumption of correctness and "an appellate court cannot reevaluate the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court." Hollywood Beach Hotel Company v. City of Hollywood, 329 So.2d 10, 15 (Fla. 1976). As explained by this Court in Palardy v. IGREC, 388 So.2d 1053, 1056 (Fla. 1980):

It is the prerogative of the trial court to evaluate and weigh conflicting testimony after observing the bearing, demeanor and creditability of the witnesses in the court. Shaw v. Shaw, 334 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1976). Indeed it is the duty of this court to affirm a judgment which is supported by competent evidence. Westerman v. Shell's City, Inc., 265 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1972).

Ιn present case, testimony demonstrated that the construction of the City's reverse osmosis project also required the construction of a pre-engineered building. (R. 655A (Ib/1, paragraph 1.01)). The testimony proved that the contract for the project could be basically divided between bulk of the contract for reverse osmosis and the building and civil work (R. 53). Civil work consisted of foundations and a pre-engineered building (R. 53). Envirogenics expert stated that the civil portion of the proposal to build the reverse osmosis plant basically consisted of a building to protect the R.O. system from the elements (R. 54), and that the building's primary purpose was to protect the R.O. equipment (R. 54). Appellants', Water Services and Envirogenics, expert concluded that the building was a integral part of the reverse osmosis system (R.79). Envirogenics' expert stated that the cost of building was approximately \$550,000 and consisted of approximately 13% of the overall contract price (R.55). testimony supports Water Services and Envirogenics view that the project was a "utility" with "incidentals", the Building. However, conflicting testimony from the expert witness offered by the City convinced the Court that the project, because of the necessary construction of a building, could not fall within the exemption of Florida Statutes, Chapter 489, by virtue of Section 489.103(1) because it was not within the meaning of "utilities and incidentals thereto" as argued by Water Services and Envirogenics. The Building and R.O. technology portion of

the project are separate in that the Building is not part of the R.O. technology (R. 93) and it is unusual for an R.O. system supplier like Water Services and Envirogenics to also construct the Housing Facility (R. 94). Envirogenics own expert testified on cross-examination that it would have had a licensed contractor build the building facility) had it been awarded the contract and Envirogenics has never built a building in connection with an R.O. plant in Florida (R. 57 and R. 58). The evidence showed that the building constructed to house the R.O. plant facility could have been a warehouse and it also had small office space (R. 108 and R. 116) "emphasis added". Although the Building's purpose is to provide shelter for the R.O. equipment, the equipment could have been designed to be outside without the (R. 114 115). need for the Building | and Therefore, notwithstanding the interpretation of the exemption prescribed by Florida Statute, Section 489.103(1), for "Utilities and Incidentals thereto" as argued by Water Services and Envirogenics, the Trial Court held that the City was not liable for rejecting the bid on the grounds that they were not Section licensed to 489 because the pursuant "Construction project is not exempt from the requirements of Statutes. Chapter 489. Florida by virtue of Section 489.103(1)." (Emphasis added) (A. 2)

It could be argued that the finding of the Trial Court \underline{is} consistent with the interpretation of Section 489.103(1) suggested by Water Services and Envirogenics, because under no stretch of the statutory interpretation of this section can it

be said that construction of a building may be done by a contractor not licensed in the State of Florida. Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1983), requires that any person who submits a bid to construct, repair, alter, remodel, add to, subtract from, or improve any building or structure must be a licensed general contractor. Water Services and Envirogenics admit that at the time they submitted the bid they were not licensed as a general contractor. (R. 31) The provisions of Chapter 489 must be considered. Section 489.105(3), Florida Statutes (1983), provides:

Contractor . . . means, except as expressed in this Act, a person who, for compensation, undertakes to, submits a bid to, . . . or does himself or by others construct, repair, alter, remodel, add to, subtract from, or improve any <u>building or structure</u> (emphasis added), including related improvements to real estate, for others or for resale to others . . . (Emphasis added)

Section 489.113(2), Florida Statutes, (1983), provides that:

No person who is not a licensee shall engage in the business of contracting in this State.

Section 489.119(2), Florida Statutes, (1983), states in pertinent part:

If the applicant proposes to engage in contracting as a partnership, corporation, business trust, or other legal entity, the applicant shall apply through a qualifying agent

Section 489.119(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), provides in pertinent part:

The qualifying agent shall be certified or registered under the Act in order for the business organization to be certified or registered in the category of the business conducted for which the qualifying agent is registered or certified . . .

Section 489.127(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1983), states that,

No person shall engage in the business or act in the capacity of a contractor without being duly registered or certified.

Section 489.127(2), Florida Statutes (1983), further provides:

That any person who violates any provisions of this Act is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree punishable as provided in Section 775.082, Section 775.083, or Section 775.084.

The foregoing provisions place the burden upon Water Services and Envirogenics, "to become duly registered and certified [through a qualifying agent] before engaging in the contracting business by submitting bids to construct buildings and other improvements." Greenhut Construction Company v. Harry A. Knott, Inc., 247 So.2d 517, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), (A.3). In addition, Section 489.131(1) places a burden upon a municipality to insure compliance with the licensing provisions of Chapter 489 before awarding a contract.

In <u>Greenhut Construction Company v. Harry A. Knott, Inc.</u>, 247 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) (A.3), the Court held that a non-resident contractor could not submit a bid for a public construction project without first being a licensed contractor.

In the <u>City of Opa Locka v. Trustees</u>, 193 So.2d 29, 32 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966), the Court held that a bidder could not bid on a public project if he were not a certified contractor and also held that the <u>City could not waive this requirement</u>. (Emphasis added). Accordingly, based upon plain language of Chapter 489, Water Services and Envirogenics, when submitting a bid on the City of Cape Coral construction project should have been a licensed contractor prior to submitting the bid, and the City had an affirmative duty to ensure that the requirements of Chapter 489 had been met before awarding the contract.

II. APPELLANTS, WATER SERVICES AND ENVIROGENICS, DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE EXCEPTION OF CHAPTER 489.

Section 489.103(1) exempts certain construction jobs from the coverage of the Chapter, and Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics rely exclusively on this provision. This subsection states that the licensing requirements do not apply to contractors "in work on bridges, roads, streets, highways, utilities and services incidental thereto." railroads, or Water Services and Envirogenics' interpret "utilities" as the sixth term in the series, with "services" modifying all six terms. In other words, their position is that work on (1) bridges, (2) roads, (3) streets, (4) highways, (5) railroads and (6) utilities are exempt from the licensing requirements, as are "services" incidental thereto.

The City's position is that "utilities" is <u>not</u> the sixth term, but instead modifies the five terms that are exempted by the subsection. In other words, work on (1) bridges, (2) roads, (3) streets, (4) highways and (5) railroads is exempt, as well as "utilities and services" incidental thereto. If the City's interpretation is correct, Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics would not be exempted from the licensing requirement.*

There is a case that supports Appellants', Water Services and Envirogenics, position, but from the plain reading of the statute the case is wrong. Before discussing the case, let's The first five terms of examine the statute itself. exemption all deal with transportation activities and therefore related: (1) bridges, (2) roads, (3) streets, (4) highways and (5) railroads. "Utilities" is not of a similar nature, and would seem out of place in a series with the five preceding terms. The obvious intent was to exempt persons constructing transportation facilities, and the "utilities and services incidental thereto." The language "utilities services incidental thereto" was inserted so that it would not be necessary to obtain a contractor's license to run a sewer pipe under a road that was being built. So a logical interpretation of the subsection is that "utilities" was meant to be a modifier of the prior five terms rather than the sixth term in the series.

^{*} It was pointed out that even if the City is incorrect Water Services and Envirogenics would still have been required to obtain a contractor's license to bid on the job because of the construction of a Building.

The punctuation supports the foregoing interpretation. If "utilities" were meant to be the sixth term in the series, there would have been a comma after utilities. In other words, the subsection would state that the licensing requirement does not apply to contractors working on "bridges, roads, streets, highways, railroads, or utilities[,] and services incidental thereto." The absence of this comma shows that "utilities" is related to the term "services" that follows it rather than the five transportation terms that precede it.

In <u>Wagner v. Botts</u>, 88 S. 2d 611 (Fla. 1956), this Court established guidelines for the consideration of punctuation in the interpretation of statutes by the Courts. This Court held that:

The better rule now seems to be that punctuation is a part of the Act and that it may be considered in the interpretation of the Act but it may not be used to create doubt or to distort or to defeat the intention of the Legislature....We deem it proper to adhere to what now appears to be the better rule which is to treat the rules of punctuation on a parity with other rules of interpretation. Wagner, at 613.

A reading of the Section 489.103 in its entirety lends further support to the City's interpretation. Subsection (5) of the statute states that the licensing requirement does not apply to "Public utilities on construction, maintenance, and development work performed by their employees, which work is incidental to their business." If work on all utilities were

exempted by subsection (1) as Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics suggest, subsection (5) would be superfluous. Subsection (5) implicitly assumes that utilities are generally subject to the licensing requirements, and exempts utilities incidental to other construction projects. So if subsection (1) means what Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics advocate, subsection (5) would have no meaning. Statutes should be interpreted in such a way as to give meaning to all their parts, and an interpretation should be avoided that makes any part superfluous. 49 Fla.Jur.2d Statutes, §179 (1984).

A. The Wood-Hopkins case relied upon by Appellants is incorrect.

Appellants, Water Services and Envirogenics avoid a direct look at the exemption statute in their Initial Brief, but instead understandably emphasizes <u>Wood-Hopkins Contracting Co.v. Roger J. Au & Son, Inc.</u>, 354 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). The City concedes that there is language in <u>Wood-Hopkins</u> supporting Water Services and Envirogenics' interpretation of the exemption statute. It is the City's position, however, that the language relied upon by Appellants were ill-advised. <u>Wood-Hopkins</u> is a classic case of an appellate decision being correct in its ultimate ruling but faulty in the structure underlying the ruling.

In <u>Wood-Hopkins</u> the Jacksonville Electric Authority (JEA) accepted bids for the construction of a "thermal discharge unit" at one of its generating stations. The JEA <u>prequalified</u> 16 bidders. The bid specifications required the use of special

two companies, both of which pipe manufactured by prequalified their pipe designs. After the bids were submitted JEA decided it did not like the pipe design of one of the two approved pipe companies. The lowest bidder (Roger J. Au & Son) by some \$38,000 had submitted a bid using the pipe that was subsequently disapproved by JEA. When the manufacturer of the disfavored pipe found out about JEA's dissatisfaction, agreed to make any necessary changes in the pipe at no cost to either the JEA or the low bidder. Nevertheless, the JEA rejected the lowest bid on two bases: first, because it used the disfavored pipe; and second, because the low bidder did not possess a contractor's license. The contract was then awarded to another bidder.

The low bidder brought suit against the JEA and the successful bidder. The trial court ultimately entered a permanent injunction forbidding the JEA from awarding the contract to the successful bidder.

On appeal the First District noted that the special act creating the JEA required contracts to be awarded to the lowest bidder. The bulk of the opinion deals with whether the low bidder should have been removed from consideration because its bid called for the use of the disfavored pipe. The court agreed with the trial court that the prequalification of the two pipe manufacturers and the assurances from the disfavored manufacturer that he would make any alterations necessary meant

that the JEA could not disqualify the low bidder on this basis. The attempted disqualification was therefore arbitrary and capricious, and an abuse of discretion.

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